THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

Appeal from Lexington County  
Eugene C. Griffith, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-002019

---

THE STATE,

Petitioner,

vs.

KIERIN MARCELLUS DENNIS,

Respondent.

---

**PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

---

ROBERT M. DUDEK  
Appellate Defender

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

LARA M. CAUDY  
Appellate Defender

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General

S.C. Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
Post Office Box 11589  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-1130

MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

J. ANTHONY MABRY  
Senior Assistant Attorney General

## **QUESTIONS PRESENTED**

- I. Did the Court of Appeals err in holding that after a mistrial is declared, for whatever reason, a criminal defendant is entitled to a completely new immunity hearing under the Protection of Persons and Property Act?
  
- II. Did the Court of Appeals further err in misapprehending the facts of record, not reviewing Judge Russo's denial of immunity after the 1<sup>st</sup> immunity hearing, and in directing the lower court to make certain findings and conclusions upon remand?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Kieren M. Dennis (“Dennis”) was indicted for Murder and Possession of a Weapon during the Commission of a Violent Crime in 2014 by the Lexington County Grand Jury. The case was prosecuted by the current Solicitor Samuel “Rick” Hubbard, III, Deputy Solicitor Shawn Graham, and Assistant Solicitor Rhonda Patterson. Dennis was represented by Todd Rutherford, Simone Martin, and Nicole Simpson, Esquires. (Nov. 2014 R. 1; Oct. 2016 R. 619; Aug. 2017 R. 1657; Sept. 2017 R. 2041; Aug. 2019 R. 2095).

### *The 1<sup>st</sup> Immunity Hearing*

Prior to trial, Dennis made a motion for immunity from prosecution pursuant to the Protection of Persons and Property Act, S.C. Code Ann. §§ 16-11-410 to 450 (2006), and a hearing took place pursuant to the procedure set forth in *State v. Duncan*, 392 S.C. 404, 709 S.E.2d 662 (2011), from **November 17 to 19, 2014** before **Circuit Court Judge Thomas Russo** (“the 1<sup>st</sup> immunity hearing”). (Nov. 2014 R. 1-618). Fourteen (14) witnesses were called at the hearing. On February 4, 2015, Judge Russo denied Dennis immunity by Order. (R. 2905-14).

### *The 1<sup>st</sup> trial*

The case proceeded to trial by jury on October 3, 2016, which concluded in a mistrial due to an 11-1 hung jury on October 11, 2016. It was reported by the jury that the alignment was 11-1 to convict. (Oct. 2016 R. 1656).

### *The 2<sup>nd</sup> Immunity Hearing*

Dennis moved for a new or second immunity hearing in June of 2017, alleging new evidence. The State objected that Dennis was not entitled to a new or second immunity hearing. A second immunity hearing (“the 2<sup>nd</sup> immunity hearing”) was held before Circuit Court Judge Robert E. Hood on August 22 and 24, 2017 and September 18, 2017. (June 2017 Motion, R. 1665; Aug. 2017 R. 1657; Sept. 2017 R. 2041). Seven (7) more witnesses were called at this hearing.

Dennis was allowed to present his *so-called* new evidence. On October 11, 2017, Judge Hood issued a 2nd Order denying immunity. (Oct. 2017 Order, p. 2915; Aug. 2019 R. 2901-2902).

*The 2nd trial*

The case proceeded to a jury trial from August 19 to 27, 2019, after which Dennis was found guilty of murder. He was sentenced by the trial judge, the Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, to 30 years' imprisonment. (Aug. 2019 R. 2904)

*The Direct Appeal to the Court of Appeals / the Award of a 3<sup>rd</sup> Immunity Hearing*

Dennis appealed his conviction and sentence and subsequently submitted a brief in support of his appeal. Respondent filed a responsive brief. After oral argument, a three (3) judge panel of the Court of Appeals issued a published opinion granting Dennis a new immunity hearing [a 3<sup>rd</sup> immunity hearing] in the Circuit Court below. State v. Kieren Marcellus Dennis, Opinion No. 6082 (Ct. App. Filed August 14, 2024). The Court did not reach Dennis's 2 trial issues raised in his brief nor did it reverse Dennis's conviction of murder. In its Opinion, the Court of Appeals held that "after a mistrial," without any determination of an error occurring within the 1st immunity hearing, that a criminal defendant is entitled to a new immunity hearing before his re-trial.

*The Petition for Rehearing*

The State filed a timely Petition for Rehearing and Rehearing En Banc. In the Petition, the State argued the Court of Appeals' Opinion contained factual errors, wrong legal conclusions, misapprehended certain facts and law, and overlooked certain facts and law. On October 30, 2024, the Court of Appeals denied the Petition for Rehearing stating it had not overlooked any matter or misapprehended any fact, but the Court withdrew its original opinion and re-filed the Opinion.

State v. Kieren Marcellus Dennis, Opinion No. 6082 (Ct. App. Re-Filed October 30, 2024).<sup>1</sup> In the Opinion, the Court clarified that it did not reverse Dennis’s conviction for murder, it only granted him a 3<sup>rd</sup> immunity hearing before another Circuit Judge. Id.

### RESPONDENT’S STATEMENT OF FACTS

Dutch Fork High School (“DFHS”) played its long-time rival Lexington High School (“LHS”) in basketball on the evening of February 17, 2014. (Nov. 2014 R. 8, 227, 246). DFHS won the rowdy game. Kierin Dennis (“Dennis”) left the gym with his 4 friends: Keith Adams, Ketura “Lucky” Cook, Will Zander, and Morgan Zander, Will’s sister, all of whom were current or former students of LHS.<sup>2</sup> (Nov. 2014 R. 8-9, 161; Aug. 2019 R. 2127-28). Students from the 2 high schools had post-game altercations before, so extra security was on hand to separate students after the game. (Nov. 2014 R. 9-13, 160-161, 482-483). LHS students were directed to exit the gym out the front door, while DFHS students were directed out the back. (Nov. 2014 R. 9, 160; Aug. 2019 R. 2125, 2134-35). Students from DFHS were celebrating by dancing in a loosely-formed circle in the parking lot when Dennis approached them and interrupted their celebrations. (Nov. 2014 R. 161, 178, 252; Aug. 2019 R. 2181, 2598-99). Things got tense, and Dennis challenged them to meet up at the local *Cook-Out* restaurant later to settle things as the police ordered everyone to leave the parking lot. (Nov. 2014 R. 247, 359-362; Aug. 2017 R. 2007-08; Aug. 2019 R. 2139, 2168-69).

Dennis left the high school driving his gold Ford Explorer Sport followed by Keith in his White Nissan Armada, and Will, Morgan, and Ketura in Will’s Silver Infinity Crossover. (Nov.

---

<sup>1</sup> The Court of Appeals revised and re-filed opinion is now reported at State v. Dennis, 444 S.C. 353, 907 S.E.2d 142 (Ct. App. 2024).

<sup>2</sup> Keith Adams, Will Zander, and Ketura Cook were LHS graduates. (Nov. 2014 R. 7, 74, 245). Morgan Zander was a current LHS student. (Nov. 2014 R. 159).

2014 R. 14-15; Aug. 2019 R. 2099). They initially drove to a gas station, then to *Sonic*, then to *McDonald's*, but finally ended up at the *Cook-Out*, even though it was noticeably full. (Nov. 2014 R. 14-15; Aug. 2019 R. 2442). Keith parked by a *PetSmart* while Will and Dennis parked their cars further down by a car wash. (Nov. 2014 R. 14, 119; Aug. 2017 R. 1931-33; Aug. 2019 R. 2218-28). One of Dennis's long-time friends, Austin Sanders, was leaving the *Cook-Out* when Dennis and his friends arrived, and he told the group, "Yeah, I was in the drive-thru and a whole bunch of Dutch Fork kids were just – started getting rowdy in the drive-thru, shaking people's cars, and stuff like that." (Nov. 2014 R. 250). Dennis and his friends chose to go into *Cook-Out* anyway. (Nov. 2014 R. 250). Inside were between 30 to 40 current and former DFHS students, including Devon Chatman, Alexis Brunson, Michael James, Lamar Butler, Kenneth Williams, and the 18-year-old victim, Da'Von Capers.<sup>3</sup> (Nov. 2014 R. 213, 592; Aug. 2019 R. 2100).

Once Dennis was inside the restaurant, Michael James, a current DFHS student, stood up and said, "Is that all y'all brought?" (Nov. 2014 R. 37, 428). Dennis replied, "We just came here to eat." (Nov. 2014 R. 251). Surveillance footage shows the students from the 2 high schools eating quietly inside *Cook-Out* for about 17 minutes before Dennis decided to go outside. (State's Ex. 12; Defense Ex. 3; See Aug. 2017 R. 1953-54; Aug. 2019 R. 2486-88). Dennis had previously texted his cousin, Tobias Davis, that DFHS students were "trying to fight [them] at Cook-Out" and stepped outside to take a phone call from him. (Nov. 2014 R. 16, 317-319). Dennis's 4 other friends followed him outside along with Michael James, who was seen on the surveillance footage dressed in a white, long-sleeved shirt. Michael James was walking to his car when Morgan Zander,

---

<sup>3</sup> Devon Chatman, Alexis Brunson, and Kenneth Williams were DFHS graduates; Lamar Butler, Michael James, and Da'Von Capers were current DFHS students. (Nov. 2014 R. 442, 481, 502-503, 566; Aug. 2019 R. 2100).

Will's sister, said something to him, so he turned around and threw his hands up, and said, "Are y'all still salty?" (Nov. 2014 R. 16-18, 80).

Surveillance video shows the DFHS students then immediately came out of the restaurant. (Nov. 2014 R. 81-85, 323-324; Aug. 2017 R. 1925-33). Dennis and his friends walked to their cars, but no one assaulted or attempted to assault them as they were on their way. (Nov. 2014 R. 448, 463). Once they were in their 3 cars, Dennis and his friends pulled up next to each other and discussed for about 5 minutes how they would exit the parking lot. (Nov. 2014 R. 126-127, 257-258). Keith left the parking lot first and turned right toward Main Street. (Nov. 2014 R. 44-46). Will Zander drove next to the DFHS crowd and stopped his car, rolled down the window, and threw money out of the car, saying, "Hey, this what y'all are worth." (Nov. 2014 R. 544, 569). Dennis, in the *PetSmart* parking lot, maneuvered his vehicle to face the DFHS students while Will was doing this. (Nov. 2014 R. 51, 327-328). Dennis then pointed his car at the crowd of DFHS students and rapidly accelerated his vehicle into the wrong lane of traffic and almost hit 2 Dutch Fork students, Tyreke Farrow and Devon Chatman, before finally stopping his car by the opposite curb. (Nov. 2014 R. 451-452, 543-547). Xavier Holliday had to push Tyreke out of the way to prevent Dennis's car from hitting him. (Nov. 2014 R. 547).

DFHS students then gathered around Dennis's vehicle and heated words were exchanged because Dennis had almost hit two DFHS students. (Nov. 2014 R. 412-413, 506, 547). Will parked his car diagonally in front of Dennis's, exited his vehicle, and got a metal pipe out of his trunk. (Nov. 2014 R. 50, 62, 135, 151). After approximately a minute of this heated exchange, Dennis motioned in a "come here" fashion to 2 of the DFHS students, rolled his window down further,

and told them, “You don’t want what I got. You don’t want what I got.”<sup>4</sup> (Nov. 2014 R. 436-438, 516, 548). Dennis was leaning over in his seat, slumped toward the center console with his right hand down and out of view when he rolled the window down further, grabbed a knife from the center console, and abruptly stabbed Da’Von Capers, who was outside his driver’s side window, in the chest. (Nov. 2014 R. 262-263, 285, 375-377, 453; 547-48; 553; Aug. 2019 R. 2230-34). Some witnesses testified that Da’Von Capers did not reach inside Dennis’s vehicle and others testified that he did, some saying it was only after Dennis stabbed Capers in the chest. (Nov. 2014; 547-51; 553; R. Aug. 2017 R. 1729-31, 1893-94). Dennis then sped out of the parking lot and the victim was pronounced dead at Lexington Medical Center shortly after. (Nov. 2014 R. 372; Aug. 2017 R. 1907-08; Aug. 2019 R. 2230-35).

Dennis went home and changed his clothes then decided to bury the knife. (Nov. 2014 R. 269-271, 343-344; Aug. 2017 R. 1908-12). Dennis did not call or talk to law enforcement until they picked him up from his house later and never told them he was afraid for his life or that he had to act in self-defense. (Nov. 2014 R. 270-271; State’s Exhibits 2 and 35). Dennis admitted he stabbed the victim but, at trial, claimed he did it in self-defense because the DFHS students were reaching into his car to attack him. (Nov. 2014 R. 277-355; Aug. 2019 R. 2663-64; State’s Exhibits 2 and 35). However, no DNA or fingerprints from DFHS students were found on or in Dennis’s vehicle. (Nov. 2014 R. 293-294, 403; Aug. 2019 R. 2753-62). Dennis did tell law enforcement that his car was blocked, and he could not leave the parking lot, but surveillance footage shows 1 or 2 cars driving past Dennis’s vehicle while it was parked by the curb. (Nov. 2014 R. 204-208, 276-277; Aug. 2019 R. 2228-29). Law enforcement arrested Dennis for Murder and Possession of a

---

<sup>4</sup> Dennis’s window was already rolled down partially before he accelerated toward the Dutch Fork crowd. (Aug. 2019 R. 2235, 2252, 2322, 2346, 2552, 2757-58).

Weapon during the Commission of a Violent Crime. (Indictments). Two different judges denied immunity, and the second jury convicted Dennis of murder.

**I. The Court of Appeals erred in holding that after a mistrial is declared, for whatever reason, a criminal defendant is entitled to a completely new immunity hearing under the Protection of Persons and Property Act.**

The Court of Appeals erred in determining the legal ramifications of a mistrial. A mistrial does not entitle a criminal defendant to another, 2nd, or 3rd immunity hearing. An immunity hearing is a statutory right to seek immunity **from prosecution**. S.C. Code §§ 16-11-410 to 450 (2006). It goes neither to evidence nor defense, nor is it renewed or reconsidered during the trial. *See State v. Duncan*, 392 S.C. 404, 410, 709 S.E.2d 662, 665 (2011) (“we find that, by using the words ‘immune from criminal prosecution,’ the legislature intended to create a true immunity, and not simply an affirmative defense.”). *See also State v. Isaac*, 405 S.C. 177, 183, 747 S.E.2d 677, 679 (2013) (“An order denying an immunity request is not an order involving the merits in that it does not finally determine a substantial cause of action or defense.”); *id.*, at 184, 747 S.E.2d at 680 (“denial of a request for immunity under the Act is analogous to the denial of a motion to dismiss a criminal case on the ground of double jeopardy”); *State v. Curry*, 406 S.C. 364, 373, 752 S.E.2d 263, 267 (2013) (“the trial court had denied Appellant immunity, and section 16–11–440(C) should not have been charged to the jury”). *Compare State v. Blackwell*, 420 S.C. 127, 137, 801 S.E.2d 713, 718 n. 9 (2017)(Thus, like other pre-trial determinations, such as the denial of a defendant's claim of immunity under the South Carolina Protection of Persons and Property Act, we find the issue is proper for our review). *Cf. Curry*, 406 S.C. at 370, 752 S.E.2d at 266 (“A claim of immunity under the Act requires a pretrial determination using a preponderance of the evidence standard, which this court reviews under an abuse of discretion standard of review.”).

The denial of immunity under the Act by Judge Russo, by Order (R. 2905-2914), after the 1st immunity hearing, was appealable after Dennis was convicted of murder, by the second jury as

he was in this case.<sup>5</sup> The Protection of Persons and Property statute does not provide for an interlocutory appeal because the defense is not precluded from arguing self-defense at trial. S.C. Code §§ 16-11-410 to 450 (2006). *See Brown v. County of Berkely*, 366 S.C. 354, 358, 622 S.E.2d 533, 362 (2005) (The trial court's interlocutory order denying the Appellant's Motion to Dismiss based on a qualified immunity claim was not an order involving the merits of the case or an order that affected a substantial right and as such could not be immediately appealed.); *State v. Isaac*, 405 S.C. 177, 187, 747 S.E.2d 677, 682 (2013) (Order denying the defendant's request for an immunity hearing on charges of murder under the Protection of Persons and Property Act was not a final determination and thus was not an immediately appealable interlocutory order.). As an immunity hearing ruling cannot be immediately appealed, Dennis certainly was not entitled to a new 2<sup>nd</sup> immunity hearing and ruling below before a final judgment had been rendered at all. Instead of waiting to exercise his legal remedy of a direct appeal after trial (if he had been found guilty at the 2<sup>nd</sup> trial), Dennis instead attempted to and halfway successfully convinced Judge Hood to redo the immunity hearing altogether, making superfluous Judge Russo's expenditure of time and effort and bypassing the direct appeal process. This confusion further led directly to the Court of Appeals' Opinion in this case reviewing the 2<sup>nd</sup> immunity hearing and what Judge Hood did or did not do. There was no and is no legal purpose to conduct a 2<sup>nd</sup> hearing and Dennis was not entitled to a 2<sup>nd</sup> ruling on whether he was entitled to immunity. Judge Hood improperly, yet harmlessly, held a 2<sup>nd</sup> immunity hearing and issued a 2<sup>nd</sup> judgment regarding Dennis's non-entitlement to immunity. Dennis was simply not entitled to a 2<sup>nd</sup> immunity hearing, a second bite

---

<sup>5</sup> The Court of Appeals wrongly understood the State to argue a procedural bar because the denial of immunity was not appealed sooner. (See discussion *infra* at 17).

at the apple, on the question of immunity because of a mistrial. The 2<sup>nd</sup> immunity hearing was gratuitous.

The determination of immunity is not a determination of the admissibility of evidence such as drugs or a confession during the trial. See Keels v. Powell, 213 S.C. 570, 572–73, 50 S.E.2d 704, 705 (1948)(“The effect of the mistrial was to leave the parties in status quo ante, with the cause still *pending for trial* in the circuit court. The overruling of the motion for a directed verdict and the rulings made with reference to the admissibility and competency of the testimony resulted in no binding adjudication of the rights of the parties. Therefore, the appeal is prematurely brought, and jurisdiction thereof cannot be retained.”).

The Legislature could not have intended for the defendant to be granted a 2<sup>nd</sup> immunity hearing otherwise if the defendant received multiple mistrials, *for whatever reasons*, he would be entitled to two, three, four, five .... [innumerable] immunity hearings which would make no sense, would not serve judicial economy, and would be redundant. It could also result in the defendant being granted immunity after multiple mistrials, when multiple previous trial judges had denied immunity considering the same or similar evidence.

The denial of immunity is a determination separate from the trial of the case. In fact, it is a determination whether the defendant has to go through a trial or not. As a result, the Court of Appeals erred in ruling Dennis was entitled to a 2<sup>nd</sup> immunity hearing, and now actually a 3<sup>rd</sup> hearing. Dennis was only entitled to 1 immunity hearing, the 1 he had before Judge Russo and was appropriately denied immunity.<sup>6</sup>

---

<sup>6</sup> In order to be entitled to a new immunity hearing after a mistrial or reversal, a defendant would have to show a previous *Brady* violation relevant to immunity before the 1<sup>st</sup> immunity hearing or newly or after discovered evidence as defined by the law. See Rule 29, SCRCrim.P. (motion for a new trial based on after-discovered evidence; S.C. Code Ann. Section 17-25-45(c)(2<sup>nd</sup> PCR action based on after-discovered evidence); *McCoy v. State*, 401 S.C. 363, 737 S.E.2d 623 (2013).

The Court of Appeals also erred in relying on 2 Georgia cases which it cited in its Opinion for the proposition that Dennis was entitled to a new immunity hearing after a mistrial. Those cases are not controlling, instructive, or even persuasive, because in neither of those cases did the appellant receive an immunity hearing before trial and an order denying immunity as Dennis did in this case. See *State v. Hamilton*, 839 S.E.2d 560 (Ga. 2020); *State v. Remy*, 840 S.E.2d 385 Ga. 2020). Here, Dennis received an immunity hearing before Judge Russo, an Order denying immunity from Judge Russo, a 2nd immunity hearing before Judge Hood, and another order denying immunity from Judge Hood. Further, the Court of Appeals cited *Hamilton* for one proposition but refused to follow *Hamilton* for another. (See Opinion). The cases cited from Georgia are simply not authoritative in this setting. Dennis is not entitled to another, third, hearing and another, third, determination of immunity.

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