STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

**RECEIVED**

**Jan 17 2025**

S.C. SUPREME COURT

---

Certiorari to the Court of Appeals  
Appeal from Lexington County  
Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Circuit Court Judge

---

Opinion No. 6082 (S.C. Ct. App. Filed August 14, 2024  
Withdrawn, Substituted, and Refiled October 30, 2024)

Lower Court Case No. 2014-GS-32-01440

---

THE STATE,

PETITIONER,

V.

KIERIN MARCELLUS DENNIS,

RESPONDENT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2024-002019

---

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI  
TO THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

ROBERT M. DUDEK  
Chief Appellate Defender

LARA M. CAUDY  
Senior Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense

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

Caitlin Voravudhi, a patrol officer with Lexington Police Department, was the first witness during the limited hearing. She was one of the first officers who responded to the scene. R. 1702, l. 24 – 1703, l. 4. When she arrived, there were about forty younger people in the parking lot and some adults. Voravudhi attempted to control the scene and speak with witnesses. R. 1703, ll. 8-21. While Voravudhi was not wearing a body camera that night, the dash camera from her patrol car was recording both audio and video. Her dash camera was pointed toward the carwash and not the Cook Out. R. 1704, l. 12 – 1706, l. 24. Voravudhi spoke to Beth Bettini, the original complainant who called 911, and Zachary Lynch, a Cook Out employee. Voravudhi also took a written statement from Bettini and Lynch. R. 1710, ll. 22-24; R. 1716, l. 10 – 1717, l. 4; R. 2936-2937. Voravudhi turned over both written statements and her dash camera footage, which included her interview of Bettini and Lynch, to investigators. R. 1722, ll. 3-12; R. 1727, l. 12 – 1730, l. 5.

Beth Bettini testified that she entered the Cook Out parking lot through the rear entrance. When she turned the corner, she saw thirty to forty teenagers in the Cook Out parking lot. They were “screaming, hollering, cussing, acting crazy.” Bettini had her windows down. She saw a light colored SUV come to a complete stop in the driveway because there were students blocking the road. They surrounded the SUV and started yelling at the driver. They were calling him names and threatening him. They were yelling, “Fuck you. We’ll kick your ass.” She saw a student throw a drink at the car. The driver said, “Y’all leave me the fuck alone or get the fuck away from me.” Bettini called 911 and described what she was witnessing. She thought there was about “to be a fight.” She told the dispatcher that the driver of the light colored SUV – whom she identified as respondent – “looked scared to death” and she thought the other students were going to hurt him. R, 1771, l. 1 – 1774, l. 15. She explained that respondent could not leave because there were students in front of his car. He would have had to have hit them to leave. R. 1776, ll. 5-7.

After everyone left, Bettini stayed and spoke to law enforcement. R. 1776, l. 22 – 1778, l. 21. First, she spoke to Deputy Voravudhi and then she talked to Investigator Brent Carter. She told Carter she had called 911. R. 1777, l. 1 – 1780, l. 2. Lexington County 911 destroyed the recording of Bettini’s call before it could be preserved because the call was not “properly linked” to the CAD report for the incident. R. 1876, l. 4 – 1880, l. 18; R. 1883, ll. 7-21.

Zachary Lynch was working at the Cook Out that night. R. 1817, ll. 3-11. He was outside taking a break when the stabbing occurred. R. 1818, ll. 9-15. Lynch was standing near the dumpsters smoking. R. 1824, ll. 1-3. He had a clear view of the parking lot and the driveway between the Cook Out and PetSmart. R. 1824, ll. 14-22. Lynch saw respondent attempt to pull out and leave. There were students in the roadway blocking respondent from leaving. There were also students standing along the sidewalk next to the roadway. The students

were “taunting” respondent, calling him names, and acting “malicious.” They all gathered outside respondent’s window. R. 1826, ll. 2-8. One student threw a drink at respondent’s car. Lynch saw a student reach inside respondent’s window with his hand “forward.” Lynch thought this person was trying to grab respondent. When he later learned there had been a stabbing, Lynch thought it was the person who leaned into respondent’s window who “did the stabbing.” After the person who leaned into respondent’s car came back out, respondent drove away. R. 1825, l. 7 – 1828, l. 5.

Dr. Janice Ross, the pathologist who conducted the autopsy, testified the decedent had a stab wound to the left chest just underneath the nipple. The trajectory was “downward slightly toward the middle of the body and slightly backward.” R. 1741, l. 16 – 1742, l. 2. Dr. Ross explained that based on the trajectory of the wound, “if the knife was going straight,” the decedent had to have been standing erect *or leaning over* with his head, neck, and chest parallel with the ground. R. 1743, ll. 10-24; R. 1747, ll. 2-19. (emphasis added). “Every percentage that [the decedent] stands up” from a position parallel with the ground, “the knife . . . has to raise up that same percentage in order to get the same trajectory.” If the decedent was standing erect, respondent’s hand would have had to have come up and struck downward, not straight across, in order to match the trajectory of the wound. R. 1747, l. 25 – 1748, l. 20. She acknowledged, “if the defendant were leaning back in the vehicle against the arm rest . . . that would impact how far the victim had to lean in or had to lean over in order to receive that stab wound if the defendant stabbed him with his right hand.” R. 1750, ll. 4-9. “If the victim was standing up, then the knife would have had to come up and down. If the victim was stooped over, then it [the knife] would have to go kind of straight parallel to the ground.” R. 1753, ll. 9-19.

Ervin Chauncy Meggett, who attended Dutch Fork, was interviewed by the solicitor’s office on August 26, 2016, shortly before the mistrial due to the hung jury. R. 2020, ll. 18-22.

Why Meggett was not interviewed earlier is not revealed from this record. Meggett was standing outside respondent's window when the decedent was stabbed. R. 2023, l. 19 – 2024, l. 3. He told the state during his August 2016 interview that the decedent “was in the wrong” and that respondent was trying to leave when the stabbing occurred. R. 2022, ll. 10-16. He said the decedent was “banging” on respondent's car when respondent stabbed him. R. 2025, l. 14 – 2026, l. 3. Meggett said at the limited immunity hearing that he did not remember telling the state the decedent was in the wrong and that respondent was trying to leave. R. 2024, ll. 19-23; R. 2026, l. 22 – 2027, l. 1. All he remembered was some students were banging on respondent's car, but he did not know if the decedent was one of the individuals who was banging. R. 2022, ll. 10-24. Meggett admitted he was subpoenaed to testify during respondent's first trial that ended in a mistrial. He was placed in a room with other potential witnesses. However, Meggett denied that those witnesses confronted him for previously saying “things that were unfriendly to Cape [the decedent].” The decedent was Megget's friend. R. 2024, l. 24 – 2025, l. 13.

Judge Hood denied immunity by order filed October 16, 2017. R. 2915-2921. The order cited to “inconsistent testimony” and evidence being “in direct contradiction” and ruled, “Under the facts before this Court, the Defendant's claim of self-defense presents a quintessential jury question. See *State v. Curry*, 406 S.C. 364, 752 S.E.2d 263 (2013).” R. 2920. “The direct contradiction between witnesses creates an issue for a jury to decide, not the trial court. Therefore, immunity does not apply because the Defendant has not proven beyond (sic) a preponderance of evidence standard of self-defense. The Court finds that the Defendant has not established the elements of self-defense by the greater weight of the evidence.” R. 2920-2921.

The order concluded, “Based upon the denial of immunity, the Court does not need to reach a ruling on the merits of whether or not the Defendant was entitled to a second hearing. The Defendant was given the opportunity to present and proffer the evidence and the Court has

considered the evidence. The state was allowed to respond. Further, *the Court read the testimony from the original immunity hearing and the jury trial*. The testimony has been heard and the record has been protected.” R. 2921 (emphasis added).

## **Appeal**

By published opinion filed August 14, 2024, the Court of Appeals held the circuit court erred by denying respondent a new, full immunity hearing after the mistrial since “when a case ends in a mistrial, it is considered a nullity and begins ‘anew when called again for trial.’” State v. Dennis, 444 S.C. 353, 363, 907 S.E.2d 142, 148 (2024) (quoting State v. Woods, 382 S.C. 153, 158, 676 S.E.2d 128, 131 (2009)); App. 381. Accordingly, the court remanded the case for a new immunity hearing. Id. at 372, 907 S.E.2d at 152; App. 390. The Court of Appeals further held the circuit court erred by finding that because there was conflicting evidence as to respondent’s entitlement to immunity, self-defense was a jury issue. Id. at 368-69, 907 S.E.2d at 151-52. Lastly, the Court of Appeals emphasized S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(A) and (C) of the Act “for the trial court’s edification on remand.” Id. at 369, 907 S.E.2d at 151; App. 385-390.

On September 13, 2024, the state, with new appellate counsel, filed an eighteen-page petition for rehearing and rehearing *en banc* accompanied by a forty-one-page memorandum. On September 16, 2024, respondent filed a motion to strike the petition for rehearing and the memorandum in support because the state failed to comply with the fifteen-page limit set forth in Rule 221(a), SCACR. Respondent further argued the memorandum was essentially a new brief in support of the state’s position that respondent’s conviction should be affirmed. The state wanted a “do over” of its previous arguments with new appellate counsel before the Court of Appeals, to which it was not entitled. App. 304-307. That same day, the state filed an amended petition for rehearing and rehearing *en banc* that complied with the fifteen-page limit. App. 314-330. However, the amended petition was still accompanied by a forty-one-page memorandum

not contemplated by the appellate court rules. App. 331-373. By order filed October 30, 2024, the Court of Appeals stated it declined to “act on the motion to strike because it is now moot” given the state’s amended petition for rehearing. App. 374. The Court also withdrew its previously filed opinion and substituted a new opinion, which clarified the court did not reverse respondent’s conviction, it only granted him a new immunity hearing. App. 374-390. On December 9, 2024, the state filed a petition for writ of certiorari with this Court. This return to the petition for writ of certiorari follows.

### ARGUMENTS

1.

The Court of Appeals correctly held that Respondent was entitled to a new, full immunity hearing pursuant to the Protection of Persons and Property Act since the prior mistrial and pretrial immunity hearing held before the mistrial were both nullities.

The Court of Appeals correctly held the circuit court erred by denying respondent’s motion for a new, full immunity hearing after the mistrial. Defense counsel asked for a new immunity hearing to which respondent was entitled. The solicitor was successful in limiting the second immunity hearing as if respondent was being done a favor by having “newly discovered evidence considered” at all. The solicitor did not want the defense to have another immunity hearing – much less a full immunity hearing – before Judge Hood even though respondent’s first trial ended in a mistrial and the first immunity hearing and mistrial were both nullities that should not have been considered.

“A mistrial is equivalent of no trial and leaves the cause pending in the circuit court. State v. Smith, 336 S.C. 39, 518 S.E.2d 294 (Ct. App. 1999). It leaves the parties ‘as though no trial had taken place.’ Grooms v. Zander, 246 S.C. 512, 514, 144 S.E.2d 909, 910 (1965) (ruling of trial judge in proceeding ending in mistrial represents no binding adjudication upon the parties

as the mistrial leaves the parties in status quo ante). A court ruling as to the admissibility and competency of testimony during a trial, which was later declared a mistrial results ‘in no binding adjudication of the rights of the parties.’ Keels v. Powell, 213 S.C. 570, 572, 50 S.E.2d 704, 705 (1948).” State v. Woods, 382 S.C. 153, 158, 676 S.E.2d 128, 131 (2009).

In State v. Woods, the state consented to a change of venue in a death penalty case, which resulted in a jury being selected from Marion County and transported to Clarendon County. That trial ended in a hung jury and a mistrial, as here. Woods argued on appeal that the trial court committed error because the jury was selected from Clarendon County for the second trial, where the court during the first trial had brought a jury from Marion County to Clarendon County for the trial. This Court found no error since the first trial resulted in a mistrial. It was a nullity, and therefore began anew when the state again called the case for trial. The Court emphasized that when a mistrial occurs because of the inability of the jury to reach a verdict, it is the same as if no trial took place. Woods, 382 S.C. at 158, 676 S.E.2d at 131.

The same is true of the pretrial hearing in this case in which Judge Russo denied immunity. It was a nullity, and respondent was entitled to begin anew. Instead, he was forced to accept what limited hearing Judge Hood would allow him.

Further, in State v. Smith, 336 S.C. 39, 518 S.E.2d 294 (Ct. App. 1999), the Court of Appeals found error where during the first trial the judge held an *in-camera* hearing at which time informant Hall identified defendant Smith as the person from whom he purchased crack cocaine on February 26, 1996. The judge allowed Hall to identify Smith in the jury’s presence. However, the first trial ended in a mistrial because of the admission of other evidence. A second trial was held before the same judge in September 1996. Smith requested a hearing on the in-court identification. He claimed Hall’s identification was tainted on the first day of the retrial when Hall saw Smith in a holding cell. The judge ruled Smith was not entitled to another

hearing on the same issue because Hall identified Smith during the prior trial where Smith had an *in-camera* hearing on that same issue. On appeal, the Court of Appeals held that a mistrial was equivalent of no trial at all. Therefore, the prior court rulings on the admissibility and competency of testimony were not binding on the rights of the parties. Because the mistrial was equivalent of no trial, the trial judge could not rely on evidentiary rulings from the nugatory proceeding. The Court of Appeals remanded the case to the circuit court for an *in-camera* hearing to determine whether Hall's identification of Smith should be suppressed.

Again, the same is true as to the pretrial immunity hearing and the mistrial in this case. Judge Hood refused to allow Respondent a full hearing and he relied on evidence offered during the mistrial and the prior pretrial immunity hearing, which were both nugatory because the proceeding ended in a mistrial. That was error on the part of the court.

Moreover, this Court held in State v. Cervantes-Pavon, 426 S.C. 442, 827 S.E.2d 564 (2019), that a court's ruling on immunity must be based solely on the evidence presented at the pretrial immunity hearing. On remand, this Court instructed the circuit court to rely only on the evidence presented at the new immunity hearing.

The pretrial hearing held before Judge Russo and the subsequent mistrial held before Judge Griffith were both nullities, and Judge Hood was obligated to proceed as if those nugatory proceedings did not exist. Again, when a mistrial occurs because of the inability of the jury to agree on a verdict, it is the same as if no trial took place. That is also true of the pretrial rulings before that trial. See State v. Mills, 281 S.C. 60, 314 S.E.2d 324 (1984); State v. Smith, 336 S.C. 39, 518 S.E.2d 294 (Ct. App. 1999). Accordingly, the Court of Appeals correctly held Judge Hood erred by denying respondent's motion for a new, full immunity hearing.

Finally, even if this Court were to agree with appellant, and change the law on evidence offered pretrial and during mistrials no longer being a nullity, respondent still would have been

entitled to another immunity hearing given the newly discovered evidence, and the state's bungling of the first immunity hearing where it failed to disclose to the defense evidence in its possession that was favorable to respondent and critical to the immunity determination. Respectfully, this Court should deny certiorari.

2.

The Court of Appeals correctly understood the facts as presented and correctly held the circuit court erred by (1) finding that because there was conflicting evidence as to Respondent's entitlement to immunity, self-defense was a jury issue, and (2) denying Respondent immunity based upon the legally erroneous reason that Respondent had the duty to retreat.

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